### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

\* \* \* \* \* \* \* \* \* \* \* \*

RANDOLPH LYLE MOORE,

Petitioner,

No. 66652

Electronically Filed Jun 05 2015 09:07 a.m. Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court

vs.

RENEE BAKER et al.,

Respondents.

### APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Appeal from Order Dismissing Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction)

Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

RENE L. VALLADARES
Federal Public Defender
TIFFANI HURST
Assistant Federal Public Defender
Nevada Bar No. 11027C
RANDOLPH M. FIEDLER
Assistant Federal Public Defender
Nevada Bar No. 12577
411 East Bonneville Avenue, Suite 250
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101
(702) 388-6577

### I. Jurisdictional Statement

This is an appeal from a district court decision denying Mr.

Moore's petition for writ of habeas corpus in a capital case, No.

C069269. The district court entered its decision on August 27, 2014.

41AA10136. The court entered and mailed The Notice of Entry of

Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Order on September 2, 2014.

Id. Mr. Moore timely filed a Notice of Appeal on October 6, 2014.

41AA10162. This Court has appellate jurisdiction over this appeal

pursuant to NRS 34.575(1), 34.830, 177.015(1)(b) & 177.015(3).

### II. Issues Presented for Review

- A. Whether the Clark County District Attorney's Office may, in its proposed order, substantially expand the scope of the district court's order both legally and factually.
- B. Whether penalty phase counsel was ineffective where their presentation was more sparse than during their previous presentation and where they did not conduct any investigation, missing substantial mitigating evidence.
- C. Whether the state's failure to disclose substantial witness benefit and intimidation testimony was prejudicial.
- D. Whether the district court erred in applying procedural defaults to Mr. Moore's petition.

- E. Whether the district court erred in failing to grant an evidentiary hearing.
- F. Whether the cumulative effect of the errors in Mr. Moore's case require reversal.

### III. Statement of the Case

The history of this case is a history of errors. Starting with the guilt phase and continuing through the post-conviction proceedings, this Court, the lower court, and the United States Supreme Court have all acknowledged errors in Mr. Moore's proceedings. Despite the distressing proliferation of errors, Mr. Moore's conviction remains intact. This is so because, for each unremedied error, this Court has found harmlessness. This Court has never weighed the sum of the errors in Mr. Moore's case. It must now.

On December 20, 1984, the state filed a criminal complaint charging Mr. Moore, and others, with conspiracy to commit burglary, conspiracy to commit murder, burglary, two counts of murder with use of a deadly weapon. 15AA3601. The state filed a notice of aggravating

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> On February 11, 1985, the state filed an amended criminal complaint adding two more counts: conspiracy to commit robbery and robbery with use of a deadly weapon.

circumstances, alleging that the murders were: (1) committed in a way that created a great risk of death to more than one person; (2) committed during the commission of a robbery; (3) committed during the commission of a burglary; and (4) committed for the purpose of receiving money or any thing of monetary value. 15AA3620-21.

The jury found Mr. Moore guilty of all counts, 15AA3623-29; after the penalty phase, the jury imposed a death sentence. 15AA3631. In what would be the first of numerous findings of error in this case, this Court reversed. Moore v. State, 104 Nev. 113, 114, 754 P.2d 841, 841 (1988) (adopting reasoning of Flanagan v. State, 104 Nev. 105, 107, 754 P.2d 836, 837 (1988)). Specifically, this Court noted the "troubling and recurring issue of prosecutorial misconduct;" but despite the "aggravated prosecutorial remarks" during the guilt phase, this Court held that "the prosecutor's actions were not so prejudicial as to mandate reversal." Flanagan, 104 Nev. at 107, 754 P.2d at 837; see also Flanagan v. State, 112 Nev. 1409, 1416, 930 P.2d 691, 695 (1996) ("This court acknowledged that prosecutorial misconduct had occurred during the guilt phase of the trial . . . . "). Nonetheless, as to the penalty

phase, this Court held the prosecutorial misconduct warranted reversal. <u>Id.</u>

Mr. Moore's second penalty phase, again, suffered from error: the United States Supreme Court vacated and remanded Mr. Moore's case because the state presented evidence of Mr. Moore's religion in violation of <a href="Dawson v. Delaware">Dawson v. Delaware</a>, 503 U.S. 159 (1992). <a href="Moore v. Nevada">Moore v. Nevada</a>, 503 U.S. 930 (1992) (per curiam). On remand, this Court found that the error was not subject to harmless error analysis and remanded for a new penalty hearing. <a href="Flanagan v. State">Flanagan v. State</a>, 109 Nev. 50, 57, 846 P.2d 1053, 1059 (1993) ("The prosecution may not raise the issue of appellants' religious beliefs for the bare purpose of demonstrating appellants' bad character. By violating this prohibition, the prosecution invited the jury to try appellants for heresy.").

During the third penalty phase, the jury imposed the death penalty, finding all four aggravating circumstances. Again, Mr. Moore's third penalty phase suffered from error—found by the district court during the initial post-conviction proceedings. 36AA8848. After this Court issued McConnell v. State, 121 Nev. 25, 107 P.3d 1287 (2005),

the district court concluded that the burglary and robbery aggravating circumstances must be stricken and that Mr. Moore was entitled to a new penalty hearing. 36AA8848 ("The State has not shown, beyond a reasonable doubt, that the consideration of the burglary and robbery aggravating factors did not affect the jury's verdict and imposition of the two sentences of death.").

This Court reversed, instructing the district court to "enter detailed findings as to whether the jury's consideration of the erroneous aggravating circumstances was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt." 19AA4719. Although nothing had changed since its previous decision, the district court reversed itself, concluding that "it is clear beyond a reasonable doubt that absent the invalid burglary and robbery aggravators the jury still would have imposed a sentence of death as to Moore . . . ." 21AA5049. Thus, another error was deemed harmless.

This Court had acknowledged that it was error, but harmless, for the prosecution to use Mr. Moore's religion during the guilt phase.

Flanagan, 112 Nev. at 1418, 930 P.2d at 696. The district court also found that "trial counsel's performance was in some ways deficient."

36AA8847.<sup>2</sup> Another error not prejudicial enough. <u>Id.</u> This Court took issue with the trial court's requirement that defense counsel object off the record:

we express our disapproval of the district court's procedure in this regard. Parties are required to assert contemporaneous objections to preserve alleged errors for appellate review. Judge Mosley's unusual procedure frustrated the defense's ability to comply with this fundamental rule of appellate procedure. Additionally, it precluded the defense from securing any cautionary instructions to the jury should such instructions become necessary during the course of the trial. Therefore, we caution the district court to refrain from employing such practices that may impede a party's ability to comply with elemental rules of trial and appellate practice.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>The state all but conceded that trial counsel's performance during the guilt phase was ineffective. 4SA932-33 ("I will say in all candor to the Court, I think [post-conviction counsel,] Ms. Thomas has made a prima facie showing that [guilt-phase counsel,] Mr. Posin was ineffective."); 4SA963 ("I don't want to go on record as saying that I concede that Mr. Posin was ineffective. What I'm conceding is that she has made a prima facie showing that he was ineffective."); 4SA965 ("What I'm stipulating to now is that to the best of my recollection, it sounds to me like Mr. Posin didn't do a very good job."); see also 4SA977 (Court: "So the State is sort of conceding [that trial counsel was ineffective] . . . ." State: "It is marginal. I think whether or not counsel was actually ineffective would be for the Court to decide, but I found the performance troubling . . . the counsel did things that didn't make much sense that were to his client's detriment."); but see 4SA991 ("I didn't stipulate that he was ineffective. I stipulated that his performance was troubling.").

20AA4727. Again, however, a harmless error. Id.

This Court also noted errors in jury instructions. For example, the jury in this case received instructions on aiding and abetting liability that did not include a specific intent requirement, a violation of Sharma v. State, 118 Nev. 648, 655, 56 P.3d 868, 872 (2002). See 20AA4730-31. Similarly, Mr. Moore's jury received the wrong instruction as to first-degree murder. 20AA4734. Both of these errors, however, harmless. 20AA4730-31, 20AA4734-35.

On September 19, 2013, Mr. Moore filed a petition below alleging new errors and providing additional supporting evidence of previously alleged errors. The state responded, arguing that Mr. Moore's petition was barred by NRS 34.726, 34.800, and 34.810. On June 23, 2014, the district court heard arguments from counsel. 41AA10045. The court held, "At this time the Court's going to deny the petition, make a finding that it's a successive petition and the petitioner has failed to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>In <u>Mitchell v. State</u>, 122 Nev. 1269, 1276-77, 149 P.3d 33, 38 (2006), this Court noted that <u>Sharma</u> was a clarification of the law, and thus applied retroactively. <u>See also</u> 20AA4730 n.26.

show good cause and prejudice." 41AA10063. The court asked the state to prepare the order. Id.

On July 16, 2014, the state filed proposed Findings of Fact,
Conclusions of Law and Order. 41AA10066. Despite the district court's
order, which denied relief solely on the basis of a successive petition,
the proposed findings additionally applied NRS 34.726 and 34.800.
And, despite the dearth of factual findings in the district court's short
oral order, the proposed findings added numerous factual findings
without an evidentiary hearing. Mr. Moore promptly filed objections.
41AA10065.

The district court held a hearing where it indicated:

Mr. Owens, I just wanted to make sure, because I don't think I've ever received an objection that's filed in the form of a pleading and it was extensive as I received . . . . I just wanted to know if you wanted to be heard on that or if you wanted—I mean, in all fairness, I think since they filed this pleading you should have an opportunity to respond.

41AA10112. After the state indicated it did not have any response to the objections, the district court again reiterated: "Really I just wantedto make sure the State had an opportunity to be heard."

41AA10113.<sup>4</sup> The district court then adopted the state's proposed findings, word for word. 41AA10141.

This appeal followed.

### IV. Statement of Facts

In the 1980s, Clark County suffered from two blights: inadequate representation from defense counsel in capital cases and egregious prosecutorial misconduct. This case represents the worst of both. On one side of the case was Murray Posin representing Mr. Moore, who suffered apparent hearing loss and whose performance in this case was so egregious that, after eliciting—for no discernible reason—testimony

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>The district court's minutes erroneously indicate that "it just wanted to see if defense needed to make a further record of their objections." 41AA10114. This was not the case: the district court never asked defense counsel if they wished to make a record and did not address defense counsel until they asked for permission to be dismissed. <u>See</u> 41AA10112-13.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>See, e.g., Riley v. McDaniel, No. 11-99004, slip op. at 4 n.1 (9th Cir. May 15, 2015) available at 2015 WL 2262549 (noting "seriously inadequate public defense infrastructure in Clark County some quarter of a century ago"); Santillanes v. State, 104 Nev. 699, 703, 765 P.2d 1147, 1149 (1988) ("we hereby direct the District Attorney of Clark County to take whatever administrative action may be necessary to assure that Mr. Seaton's prosecutorial misconduct, so frequently repeated heretofore, does not again recur." (emphasis added)).

damaging to his client and the other codefendants, counsel for the codefendants moved for a mistrial. See below § VI.F.1.iii. On the other side were two prosecutors, whose lasting contribution to this state's jurisprudence has been their notorious and brazen prosecutorial misconduct. See Flanagan v. State, 104 Nev. 105, 107, 754 P.2d 836, 837 (1988) (noting that this case "once again, focuses our attention on the troubling and recurring issue of prosecutorial misconduct.").

On November 6, 1984, the bodies of Carl and Colleen Gordon were found in their home. <u>Flanagan</u>, 107 Nev. at 245, 810 P.2d at 760. The state charged six people for these crimes: Randolph Moore, Dale Flanagan, Thomas Akers, Johnny Ray Luckett, Michael Walsh, and Roy McDowell. 15AA3605. The state's case primarily rested on the testimony of co-conspirators. <u>See</u> 2AA497 (Rusty Havens, agreeing to participate in the conspiracy); 4AA753 (testimony of Mr. Akers); 4AA856 (testimony of Mr. Lucas); 22AA5383 (statement of Mr. Lucas that he helped dispose of weapons after crime); <u>but see</u> 4AA943.

With one exception: Angela Saldana testified that Dale Flanagan confessed to the crime. 5AA1013. Ms. Saldana testified that Mr. Moore

was present when the murder was planned, 5AA1014; that, according to the plan, Mr. Moore would carry one of the firearms, 5AA1015; that the motive for the crime was an inheritance to Mr. Flanagan, <u>id.</u>; that Mr. Moore left with the others to commit the crime, 5AA1031; and that Mr. Moore shot Carl Gordon, 5AA1034. Angela Saldana was the only non-conspirator to testify against Mr. Moore.

The state emphasized the importance of Ms. Saldana's testimony during the closing argument. See 8AA1768-69; 8AA1774 ("That was Angela Saldana. And she told you what happened in the last conspiratorial meeting . . . ."); 8AA1784; 8AA1786 ("Angela Saldana said that Dale Flanagan told her that Randy Moore had said that he had shot the grandfather with the long rifle.").

However, Ms. Saldana's testimony was coached and coerced. <u>See</u> below § VI.C.1. Ms. Saldana's testimony was coached by Robert Peoples at the behest of Clark County District Attorney Investigator Beecher Avants. <u>Id.</u> The state, through Mr. Avants and Mr. Peoples, engaged in a long-term and secret plan to mold Ms. Saldana's testimony into Mr. Avants's theory of the crime. <u>Id.</u> They threatened her with the death

penalty; they provided her benefits; they provided her with police reports. <u>Id.</u>

None of this information was provided to defense counsel. <u>Id.</u>

None of this information was provided to the jury, either. Thus, the most important challenge to the state's key witness—that the state had coerced and coached her testimony—was never presented.

Nor was substantial, compelling mitigation evidence, which was available. During the third penalty phase, counsel presented evidence that can be summarized in one sentence: "Randy Moore grew up in less than a perfect home environment without a true father figure, entered into a foolish marriage causing him to drop out of high school." 13AA3083. This encapsulates the fundamental error of penalty-phase counsel—the mitigation presentation was essentially that Mr. Moore had a mildly abnormal childhood. Penalty phase counsel made this presentation without investigating Mr. Moore's life. See 25AA5980 (indicating that, other than very basic investigation, counsel did not investigate Mr. Moore's case). Had counsel investigated, he would have

learned that Mr. Moore's childhood was far more than "less than perfect."

## V. Summary of Argument

The district court dismissed Mr. Moore's petition after adopting the state's findings, despite the fact that the state's proposed order expanded the scope of the court's oral findings and reached numerous factual determinations without a hearing. This was error, and this Court should reverse.

Penalty phase counsel was ineffective for failing to investigate Mr. Moore's case; as a result, penalty phase counsel failed to present compelling mitigation evidence to the jury. This Court should, thus, vacate Mr. Moore's penalty phase and order a new trial.

The state committed an egregious violation of <u>Brady v. Maryland</u>, 373 U.S. 83 (1963), by coaching and coercing its key witness, Angela Saldana, and then failing to disclose that information to defense counsel. As a result of this violation, this Court should vacate Mr. Moore's conviction and order a new trial.

///

The district court erroneously found that Mr. Moore's petition is barred by NRS 34.726, 34.800, and 34.810. However, 34.800 does not apply to this case: laches does not apply because the delay in the filing of the petition is not his fault.

Regardless, Mr. Moore has established good cause and prejudice to overcome any procedural default in this case. Mr. Moore has a statutory right to effective assistance of post-conviction counsel; here, his post-conviction counsel were ineffective. As a result of post-conviction counsel's ineffectiveness, the district court did not hear meritorious claims during initial post-conviction proceedings, namely that penalty phase counsel was ineffective; that guilt phase counsel was ineffective; that the state engaged in egregious prosecutorial misconduct; that one of the jurors did not speak English; and that Mr. Moore was entitled to a change of venue based on the pretrial publicity in this case.

Mr. Moore has also established good cause and prejudice because the state has violated <u>Brady v. Maryland</u>, 373 U.S. 83 (1963), because the district court has consistently refused to provide an adequate forum

or resources, and because Mr. Moore is actually innocent of the death penalty.

The district court also erred by refusing to grant Mr. Moore an evidentiary hearing; this error is particularly damaging because of the state's proposed order, which included factual findings contrary to Mr. Moore's uncontradicted evidence.

Finally, because Mr. Moore has established good cause and prejudice to overcome the procedural defaults, this Court must consider the errors in this case cumulatively.

## VI. Argument

A. The district court improperly allowed the state to expand the scope of its legal and factual findings.

The district court denied Mr. Moore's petition in one simple sentence: "At this time the Court's going to deny the petition, make a finding that it's a <u>successive</u> petition and that the petitioner has failed to show good cause and prejudice." 41AA10063 (emphasis added). The district court provided no explanation or elaboration. Thus, the district court's holding was as to one and only one procedural bar, NRS 34.810, which allows judges to dismiss a "second or successive petition."

This Court has noted that, when allowing a prevailing party to draft an order, "the district court should . . . have issued a new ruling, and either drafted its own findings of fact and conclusions of law or announced them to the parties with sufficient specificity to provide guidance to the prevailing party in drafting a proposed order." Byford v. State, 123 Nev. 67, 70, 156 P.3d 691, 693 (2007). And where "the district court did not make any express findings in support of its determination and provided no guidance to the prevailing party," the district court commits error. State v. Greene, 129 Nev. \_\_\_\_, 307 P.3d 322, 325-26 (2013).

This error has occurred here. In making such a laconic ruling, the district court provided no guidance to the state for drafting a proposed order. Mr. Moore raised numerous allegations of good cause and prejudice, including that post-conviction counsel were ineffective and that the state violated <u>Brady v. Maryland</u>, 373 U.S. 83 (1963). The district court addressed none of these arguments in its oral finding.

Exacerbating this error, the state expanded the scope of the district court's finding, both legally and factually. The district court's

holding denied Mr. Moore's petition on the basis of NRS 34.810; the state's proposed order expanded this to include denials under NRS 34.726 and 34.800. Compare 41AA10063 with 41AA10117 (applying NRS 34.726 and 34.800). Nor did the district court's oral order make any specific factual findings. See 41AA10063. The proposed order, in contrast, reaches factual findings such as: post-conviction counsel were effective, 41AA10119-20; Juror Guerra could speak and understand English, 41AA10124; and there was no Brady violation, 41AA10126. Mr. Moore provided the only evidence for these issues; thus, his factual contentions were uncontradicted. Nonetheless, the proposed findings reach these factual determinations.

The error in reaching these factual determinations is particularly grave because the district court has refused to hold an evidentiary hearing in this case, ever. See below § VI.E. Thus, the state's proposed findings, adopted by the district court, were not supported by a hearing where parties presented witnesses subject to cross examination.<sup>6</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>That Mr. Moore is entitled to an evidentiary hearing is a sufficient basis to reverse this case and remand. <u>See</u> below § VI.E.

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