IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

RANDOLPH LYLE MOORE,

Appellant,

Electronically Filed Sep 01 2015 11:13 a.m. Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court

v.

Case No. 66652

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal From Denial of 2nd Post Conviction Relief Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

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

Finally, Moore alleges that ineffective assistance of post-conviction counsel is good cause for re-raising claims of an impartial tribunal and change of venue. However, JoNell Thomas raised these precise issues on pages 198 to 204 and 13 to 18, respectively, of her 2003 supplemental petition. 17 AA 4203-08; 18 AA 4388-94. To the extent the change of venue claim contains additional supporting factual allegations, such are inadequate to have changed the outcome. Accordingly, there is no good cause for entertaining these claims again.

2. Alleged Brady Violations as Good Cause

The district court rejected the <u>Brady</u> claims as good cause for the untimely and successive petition because they were raised previously and Moore failed to account for the entire length of delay occurring after any new facts in support of a <u>Brady</u> claim became reasonably available to him. 41 AA 10152-155. The district court further found that Moore had failed to show that any new facts were withheld or material which was discussed in Section C above. <u>Id</u>.

When a <u>Brady</u> claim is raised in an untimely post-conviction petition for a writ of habeas corpus, the petitioner has the burden of pleading and proving specific facts that demonstrate both components of the good-cause showing required by NRS 34.726(1), namely "[t]hat the delay is not the fault of the petitioner" and that the petitioner will be "unduly prejudice[d]" if the petition is dismissed as untimely. <u>State v. Huebler</u>, 128 Nev. _____, 275 P.3d 91 (2012). Those components parallel the second and third prongs of a <u>Brady</u> violation: establishing that the State withheld the evidence demonstrates that the delay was caused by an impediment external to the defense, and establishing that the evidence was material generally demonstrates that the petitioner would be unduly prejudiced if the petition is dismissed as untimely. Id., *citing* State v. Bennett, 119 Nev. 589, 81 P.3d 1 (2003).

An allegation that the government may have been responsible for part of the initial delay in bringing a claim does not explain or excuse Moore's continued delay once the basis for the claim became known to him. <u>See Hathaway v. State</u>, 119 Nev. 248, 252-53, 71 P.3d 503, 506 (2003); <u>see also State v. Huebler</u>, 128 Nev. _____, 275 P.3d 91, 96 at fn 3 (2012) ("We note that a <u>Brady</u> claim still must be raised within a reasonable time after the withheld evidence was disclosed to or discovered by the defense."). In other words, Moore "has the burden of demonstrating the elements of

the <u>Brady</u> claim *as well as its timeliness*." <u>Lisle v. State</u>, 131 Nev. ____, 351 P.3d 725, 729 (2015) [emphasis added]. Even legitimate <u>Brady</u> claims are procedurally barred when the basis for the claim was known and it was either not brought in an earlier proceeding or within an applicable time bar. <u>Hutchison v. Bell</u>, 303 F.3d 720, 742-43 (6th Cir. 2002) (<u>Brady</u> claim barred where no good cause for delay of 11 months between discovery of claim and assertion of claim in state court). Because Moore has failed to provide any explanation that accounts for the entire length of his delay, there is no good cause and the petition was properly dismissed.

Notably, Moore's allegedly "new" <u>Brady</u> arguments in the instant petition were familiar to the district court judge because they were the very same arguments raised by co-defendant Dale Flanagan a year earlier in a successive petition.⁵ <u>See</u> 36 AA 8775-85. In fact, although it appears that Moore re-interviewed several witnesses just prior to filing the instant petition, his allegations in large part were based upon declarations obtained and used by Dale Flanagan years earlier. <u>See</u> e.g., 22 AA 5393 (Amy Peoples); 22 AA 5397 (Wendy Mazaros); 23 AA 5596 (Rusty Havens); 23 AA 5600 (John Lucas); 23 AA 5614 (Robert Peoples); 23 AA 5618 (Debora Samples); 23 AA 5621 (Angela Saldana); 24 AA 5743 (Wayne Wittig). Accordingly, to the extent there were any new factual allegations raised, those facts

⁵ Co-defendant Flanagan's appeal is pending before this Court in SC# 63703 and raises substantially similar issues.

have been known and available to Moore for several years and he fails to explain the entire length of delay in returning to state court. When Flanagan made these same arguments a year earlier, they were untimely raised then, even more so a year later when raised by Moore. Simply re-interviewing the same witnesses does not provide a later date for when the factual claims reasonably became available to Moore. Because the district court denied all of these same claims when raised by Flanagan previously (36 AA 8775-85), the result rightfully was the same a year later when they were raised by Moore.

Moore's counsel admits that he became aware of the new facts in support of re-raising the <u>Brady</u> claims in February of 2011 when Flanagan filed his federal petition. 41 AA 10050. That is two and a half years prior to Moore filing the instant petition in state court. That is the period of delay for which Moore has no good cause explanation. During that time, Moore sought a remand of his appeal in order to raise in district court the new factual allegations which he set forth in great detail in his motion, complete with an attached proposed successive habeas petition and witness declarations. RA 86-122. The appeal was basically concluded by the point with the Order of Affirmance having already issued on August 1, 2012. 21 AA 5147. The State opposed remand. 38 AA 9292-94. This Court denied remand to the district court to consider new exculpatory evidence and held that "[a]ny challenge to the judgment of conviction must be made in a post-conviction petition for a writ of

habeas corpus filed in the district court in the first instance." 21 AA 5183. Despite this directive, Moore inexplicably delayed further by litigating his new <u>Brady</u> claims in federal court before finally returning to state court a year later on September 19, 2013. This was two and a half years after Moore's counsel admits he became aware of the new facts. Pursuit of federal remedies does not constitute good cause to overcome state procedural bars. <u>Colley v. State</u>, 105 Nev. 235, 773 P.2d 1229 (1989). Moore failed to allege any good cause explanation which would account for the entire length of the delay occurring after any new facts in support of a <u>Brady</u> violation became reasonably available to Moore, in particular the time during Flanagan's litigation of these same claims and Moore's pursuit of federal habeas relief.

3. Fundamental Miscarriage of Justice

As to claims of a fundamental miscarriage of justice, the district court denied them because they have been raised and denied previously in this case and only constitute an argument of legal error, not factual innocence. 41 AA 10156. Nevada recognizes actual innocence as a "gateway" where applicable procedural bars may be excused when "the prejudice from a failure to consider [a] claim amounts to a 'fundamental miscarriage of justice." <u>Pellegrini v. State</u>, 117 Nev. 860, 887, 34 P.3d 519, 537 (2001), quoting <u>Mazzan v. Warden</u>, 112 Nev. 838, 842, 921 P.2d 920, 922 (1996). Where the Petitioner has argued that the procedural default should be

ignored because he is actually ineligible for the death penalty, he must show by clear and convincing evidence that, but for a constitutional error, no reasonable juror would have found him death eligible. <u>Hogan v. Warden</u>, 109 Nev. 952, 960, 860 P.2d 710, 716 (1993), *citing* <u>Sawyer v. Whitely</u>, 505 U.S. 333, 112 S.Ct. 2514 (1992).

Notably, Moore has repeatedly challenged the great risk of death aggravating circumstance unsuccessfully in prior proceedings. 17 AA 4057-60; 18 AA 4306-08; 18 AA 4328-30; <u>Moore v. State</u>, 112 Nev. 1409, 930 P.2d 691 (1996) (Moore IV). The United States Supreme Court has noted that actual innocence means factual innocence and not mere legal insufficiency. <u>See Bousley v. United States</u>, 523 U.S. 614, 623-24 (1998). Moore's argument against the interpretation and application of an aggravating circumstance to his case advances no new facts but only a legal argument which is contrary to Nevada precedent and against the law of the case. Such is inadequate to establish an actual innocence claim.

To the extent Moore complains of this Court's re-weighing analysis after striking two of his aggravating circumstances in the last appeal (SC# 55091), this is a purely legal argument and fails to advance any new facts to show his factual innocence. Furthermore, the district court could not sit in judgment or appellate review of the Nevada Supreme Court on the constitutionality of its re-weighing analysis. Any argument against re-weighing should have been raised (and in fact was raised) in the last appeal and the issue is now controlled by law of the case. Besides, even the United States Supreme Court engages in re-weighing or harmless error analysis to uphold a death sentence after striking a felony aggravator in the same way as the Nevada Supreme Court did in Moore's appeal. <u>Brown v. Sanders</u>, 546 U.S. 212, 126 S.Ct. 884 (2006).

Moore next alleges the district court provided an inadequate forum and no evidentiary hearing so that he could establish the above good cause explanations. But Moore misunderstands the purpose for an evidentiary hearing which is to resolve factual disputes, not for discovery or development of facts which Moore was obliged to allege with specificity in his petition. The denial of an evidentiary hearing was proper and unnecessary for disposal of the instant petition as further argued in the next section below.

E. No Evidentiary Hearing Was Necessary

An evidentiary hearing is not a discovery tool, but is only necessary if Moore asserted specific factual allegations that were not belied nor repelled by the record and that if true, would entitle him to relief. <u>Nika v. State</u>, 124 Nev. 1272, 1300-01, 198 P.3d 839, 858 (2008). Moore did not meet this standard and so he received no evidentiary hearing. 41 AA 10147. Moore overstates the value and exaggerates the import of his factual allegations and erroneously concludes that the district court

resolved factual disputes without conducting the necessary evidentiary hearing. But that is not what happened below.

Moore's allegations that JoNell Thomas failed to investigate did not require an evidentiary hearing. The claim was denied because it was not timely raised and Moore failed to factually allege any good cause explanation for the entire length of delay. 41 AA 10119. Absent good cause, it was not even necessary for the district court to address JoNell Thomas's alleged deficient performance and prejudice under <u>Strickland</u> and did so only as an alternative basis for denying the claim. <u>Id</u>. Within the Strickland analysis, the district court concluded that the federal public defender failed to show how his arguments in the instant petition were any different than those raised by JoNell Thomas in 2003 or how any new family history is so mitigating that the outcome of the penalty hearing would have been different. 41 AA 10120. The district court does not appear to have directly ruled upon the deficient performance prong of JoNell's investigation relying instead upon Moore's failure to demonstrate prejudice.

Besides, JoNell Thomas's affidavit only acknowledges that she did not conduct a "complete" mitigation investigation because she strategically elected to focus her habeas petition on the guilt phase of trial which was Moore's main concern at the time. 25 AA 5990. She does not maintain that she conducted no investigation at all as Moore implies. No matter, a <u>Strickland</u> analysis is not concerned with counsel's actual thinking and counsel need not confirm every aspect of the strategic basis for his or her actions. <u>Harrington v. Richer</u>, 562 U.S 86, 109-110, 131 S.Ct. 770, 790 (2011). "After an adverse verdict at trial even the most experienced counsel may find it difficult to resist asking whether a different strategy might have been better, and, in the course of that reflection, to magnify their own responsibility for an unfavorable outcome." <u>Id</u>. That is all that is reflected in JoNell Thomas's affidavit. <u>Strickland</u>, however, calls for an inquiry into the objective reasonableness of counsel's performance, not counsel's subjective state of mind. 466 U.S., at 688, 104 S. Ct. 2052.

Likewise, no evidentiary hearing was required to resolve any kind of factual dispute as to juror Carlos Guerra's understanding of the English language. The claim was not substantively resolved on the merits, but was denied as an untimely claim against first post-conviction counsel JoNell Thomas. 41 AA 10124. Carlos Guerra died in 2010, (27 AA 6594), and absent good cause for the delay in challenging Ms. Thomas's omission of this issue, it was not necessary to even address the claim in terms of prejudice.

Similarly, Moore's <u>Brady</u> claim was denied not on the merits, but because it had been raised and denied previously in the case and Moore failed to timely raise any new factual allegations when they became reasonably available to him. 41 AA 10126-29. Any newly alleged facts were merely cumulative and not material enough to have affected the outcome of the case. <u>Id</u>. Moore failed to allege good cause for the entire length of delay in re-raising the claim. The disposition of this issue was not in any way dependent upon resolution of a factual dispute. Moore utterly ignores that his petition below was not denied on the merits, but was denied because it was untimely and procedurally barred without good cause. No evidentiary hearing was necessary for such disposition.

<u>F. Cumulative Error</u>

The "cumulative error" section of Moore's Opening Brief (pp. 121-187), is devoted to claims "which were fully raised in previous proceedings, but erroneously rejected by this Court as procedurally barred or meritless." O.B. p.121. Moore is not substantively re-raising any of these claims nor attempting to allege good cause and prejudice for their re-consideration, but instead makes a bizarre argument that they must be included in a cumulative harmless error analysis.

The State does not dispute that the cumulative effect of errors may violate a defendant's constitutional right to a fair trial even though errors are harmless individually. <u>Hernandez v. State</u>, 118 Nev. 513, 535, 50 P.3d 1100, 1115 (2002). However, this cumulative-error standard applies to harmless error review on direct appeal from a Judgment of Conviction and has no application in the context of a post-conviction habeas petition. <u>McConnell v. State</u>, 125 Nev. 243, 259, 212 P.3d 307, 318 (2009). This Court has recognized that "some" courts have taken an

approach similar to cumulative error in addressing ineffective-assistance claims, holding that multiple deficiencies in counsel's performance may be cumulated for purposes of the prejudice prong of the *Strickland* test when the individual deficiencies otherwise would not meet the prejudice prong. <u>McConnell v. State</u>, 125 Nev. 243, 259, 212 P.3d 307, 318 (2009); but <u>see Williams v. Anderson</u>, 460 F.3d 789 (6th Cir. 2006) ("the law of this Circuit is that cumulative error claims are not cognizable on habeas . . ."). But there is no authority for the application of a cumulative error approach in the context of an untimely and successive habeas petition which is denied as procedurally barred. To the contrary, to be added to a cumulative error mix, "the error complained of must not be procedurally barred. . . ." Pursell v. Horn, 187 F.Supp.2d 260, 374-5 (W.D. Pa. 2002).

This was not a timely first petition which resolved claims of ineffective assistance of counsel on the merits which might be cumulated with other claims of error as in the <u>Evans</u> case. <u>Evans v. State</u>, 117 Nev. 609, 647-48, 28 P.3d 498, 524 (2001). It was an untimely and procedurally barred petition for which no good cause explanation was given for the entire length of the delay. There is simply no way to cumulate claims of good cause and the district court below did not rely upon any kind of harmless error claim to dispose of the petition. Moore's cumulative error argument is nonsensical, not supported by law, and inapplicable to the analysis for

good cause and prejudice to overcome procedural bars in an untimely and successive habeas petition.

CONCLUSION

WHERFORE, the State respectfully requests that this Court affirm the denial

of habeas relief.